CONDOVERS: A TIMBER-FRAMED MANOR HOUSE AT WEST TILBURY

by Randal Bingley
RECORDS, OCCUPIERS, etc.

The earliest record of thé personal name, from which the
house is presumably derived, is that of John Condover, known to
have been alive in 1523. The manor e¢alled Condover's, or
Quindever's, was carved out of West Tilbury Manor (that is, The
Ball, next to the church) in the reign of Henry VIII. In 1584,
John Walker made an extensive chart of parts of the parish.
Condover's house site is not covered, but Walker does show
parcels of land around the parish, obviously connected, called
either "Quindors" or "Grindors". In 1614 there were 156 acres
attached to the farmhouse.

The Low Street messuage has not been consistently called by
the familiar name. It is "Quindors" in a rate-book of 1760-62,
but in a menuscript of 1788 it is referred to as "Venable's Famm
and Sawell's Farm", the latter name then being crossed out and
"auindoss" inserted. An advertisement for its sale in 1793,
refers to it as "Walnut Tree Fam", =nd this seems to “be the name
by which it was known until 1868 at least. At that time, Henry
Cole built the new brick and slate-roofed residence next to it,
end supposedly revived the name "Condover's'.

Walnut Tree Farm took its name from the seven walnut-trees
which were planted outside by Church Hoad, the £, of which
survived until the early or middle 20th century. \1)
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Some of the owners and occupiers known are as follows:-

1523 John Condover

1535 Edward Baker

1662 Robert Newton

1697 Fitch of West Tilbury

1697 Cox of London. Mealman.

1738 John Venables. Also known 1760-61.

1762 William Cornwell.

1774-93 Abraham Sawell (Sold on death of Sawell in 1793).

1793 William Kettlewell

1803 John Kettlewesll

1807 Samuel Turner

1810 William Chapman

1823 William Tallmach

1828 Mre. Tallmach

1832 Richard Turner _

1838 Jackson King Hunt (elso owned Hall, Manor and Marsh Farms).

1845 William Tallmach

1854 Rev. WeG.Goodchild (Whilst waiting for East Tilbury
vicarage to be built?)

1868 EHenry Cole

1909 4llen Charles Cole (Various agricultural employecs were
resident now).

Doetroils from a sale advertizement of 24th December, 1793,
give "... Lot II. The Valurble and Desirable unexpired lesse
of a farm called WALNUT-TRES~FARI, contazining 170 acres, more
or less, of rich arsble and pasture land, in high cultivation,
with convenient Dwelling-House, barn, stsbles, cart lodges, and
useful buildings, of which 14 yeers were expired last Micheselmas,
late in the occupstion of Mr. William Sawell, decessed, at a
very low rent of 110.1 (pounds) per year".

4 sale catalogue of 1931, when A.C. Cole bought the farm-
house (he had been tenant previously] refers to the 0ld Farm-
hounse, built of brick, plasster, and tile, and containing Large
Living Room, Wash-house and Two Stores, with Three Bed Hooms
and Two Lofts.

Walnut Tree Farm House received a little damage in 1940,
due to German action. The nearby barn was first burnt by an
incendiary bomb. BSome time later, cottages in Low 3treet wers
bombed and blast from this damaged the farmhouse roof slightly.

Condover's farmhouse, having latterly served the purpose
of agricultural storage for wool bales and tools, was restored
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during 1973-75 to = dwelling. Until this time ite evolution
was not evident, though it was thought to hf fundamentally of
the fifteenth century with later additions.\2) During stripping
of the exterior frbric (part esrly riven-osk and daub, with
gdditions of red and yellow brick, pitch-painted featherboard,
conerete infilling between studs, ond asbestos shecting), the
following notes wers obtained. To these have bheen added the
basie details of the recent restorztion.
PHYSICAL CONDITICH BEFORE RESTORATION

The farmhouse is a N-35 orienteted Hell, with a surviving
E-W cross-wing on the north end, adjacent to Church Road. The
cross-wing was virtually entire smd feirly sound, of 15th or
early 16th century timber framing, sltered only by its cladding,
tiling, re-cutting of window positions, and slicing of the roof
at the west end. The Hall had been altered by the insertion of
g chimney gtack cbutting the crosswing; laying of an upper floor,
re-cubtting of window positions, roof-tiling and part cladding of
conerete and brick. 4As the Hell progressed south, so it had
deterioratod more; the ground sills had sunk and the westemn
bressummers dipped. At the extreme south, collapse seoms to
have been 30 great in the past that major brick robuilding and
propping wos undertsken. The lower south wall was of red brdick
with lath-plaster fremework sbove, probably all of ¢.l1700. The
timber freme of the southemmost bay of the Hall had been clmoat
entircly renewed at a similar period. It appcars that, as the
ginkage of the building's south ond =dvenced, an original cross-
wing hed to be demolished. Some concrete infilling on the west
free (downstrirs Hall) had perished the studwork considerably.
Where timbers were in contact with the original panels of daub,
no approcicble decsy had taken place.
ORTIGINAL, OR BARLY 16th CSNTURY FEATURIS

C. Hewett has suggested = date of betwegep 1510 and 1540 for
two vexry significant features of the house. 3? These are the
treatment of the tis-beam on the crosswing front, of a profile
used on the fascics of houses temp. Henry VIII within the Tower
of London, tnd the Hall floor joists which have diminished trons-
verse haunch-tenon joints, originnting from 1510/12 at the
earliest., OSimilar joints arc to be seen at the Ship Inn,
Fobbing, in a beam dated 1564. 4) Yot the crosswing joisting,
which is entire, seems to be eszrlier. This wes laid horizon-
tally, that is, with the greatost width of the timber facing to
receive the bedchamber floor plenks. Other features would confirm
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2 late mediaeval rather than early 16th century date for the
building., Firstly, the Hall's inserted floor for which we may
take a date of ¢.1510 onwards, was placed in position sufficient-
ly long after the building to allow an even residue of carbon to
collect over the hall rafters from its south to north end.
Secondly, the hall area was entered by the typical medizeval
arrangement of opposite doors from front and rear gardens. Rem-
nents of both head-timbers of these doors were found in stripping.
Thirdly, & similar door frame, complete, was found in the upper
north wall of the crousswing, proving that descent by an outside
gtair to the ground had existed before the building of the
(¢.1510 - onwards) upper floor of the hall. When the upper floor
was inserted, = new entranece through to the hzall by an indoor
stair was, of course, constructed. PFourthly, the evidence of the
early Tudor windows showed that they wer:c inserted some time after
the house had been built, -for one of the fine jetty supporis on
the crosawing hod been cut so as not to obstruct the new window
head. OSome earlier window mullions, of roughly-bsrked timber,
still survived, sezled in the north upper ws=ll, while the "new"
Tudor frames, most likely contemporary with the insertion of the
hall upper-floor, were of shaped diagonally sct timber.

The plen shown indicates the survival of the presumed 15th
century areas of the building. The surviving crosswing is of
three beys with ground and upper storeys, divided upstairs into
a smell west chember snd 2 two-bay east chember, still as arrang-
ed when built. There is no west jetty, bubt the esst front jettiy
supports (the centre one cut as stated), are chamfercd. The
joists are round-ended os they project under the jetty. Crosswing
roofing is supported upom a pair of plain crowm posts, while the
wooden braces at the separation of the two chembers are also
plain, without chamfering.

Proof of a south crosswing may exist in the finding of seven
identieal floor joists, with rounded ends, re-utilized, =nd laid
on their sides, in the 17th century part of the south hall. In
gize, shepe and Jointing, they were identical to those at the
north. They could derive from no other part of a building but =
crosswing. A&dded to this, there is documentary evidence of =z row
of three "cottages" abutting "Quindevers" on the south 9 west
(exactly where the crosswing would have been) in 1697. E:% The
implication is that these dwellings were the orosswing, divided
by its three bays. When they were demolished the whole south end
was bricked up and & chimney stack with oven inserted. Additional
gvidence is also found in the fact that, when excavated for-a
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garden wall in 1974, sections of floor levels conteining pottery
of 1Tth and initisl 18th century (6) date, oyster shell, and bone
were reported. 5o we may suggest an original hall with double
crosswings, similarly jettied at each front. The hall had, near
the south end, an arch-headed deoor front and rear, and another
interior arch-headed entrance coming in from the N. crosswing
(fragments of =211 three are retained, though hidden). The hall,
open to the roof,; was supported with matching chamfered arched
braces (one superb example survives on the west, the eastern
examples heving been removed to allow a side gallery or passage
to the 'nmew' bed-chembers on the inserted Tudor floor). Two
originel crown posts ere retained in the hall.
16th CENTURY FEATURES

The housc was converted at an unspocified date, and it may
be that the moulded tie beam of c.l540 is an addition of this
phaso, along with the floor insertion and the building of the red
brick chimmcy stack. Later, with the addition of flues to the
upstairs fireplaccs, cutting the original tie-beams became
necessary. On the ground floor, the Tudor stack is 8 feet in
width, with brick side scats end rlcoves for the handy jug.

Floors were set in on a serics of N.5. vertically laid
joists (with the narrow width touching the huards} end a quarter-
newel staircase, boxed in, with chomfered rails above, was cuoft in
alongside the west wall. Over this, to let a little light onto
the upper treads, a window wes placed. Its construction is iden-
tical to all the other first-conversion period windows of the
house, mullioned in diagonally-set timber of 3 x 3 inch. Samples
are shown in the sketches.
17th/18th CENTURY FE s

Condovers remained a typical "Elizsbethon" looking housc for
something like 150 yecrs, even if its origins were older. All
its oszk freme showed the pattermns of studwork standing out
between daub infills. At a date epproximate to 1700, a further
conversion took place, probably as the "cottages" of the south
end were in danger of collnopse through sinkage. MAlong with the
bricking-up end chimncy stack erection on the south crosswing site,
the southernmost-bay of the hall had to be restored, partly with
old erosswing materisl (7 floor joists and 4 slotted wall timbers)
from floor right up to rafters. A new erown post was mzde. The
division of the c.l1700 framing from that of the original is marked
atrikingly by the colour of the timber, which is smoke blackened
over the two northern bays, but clean on the southerm. Fragments
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of the mediaeval frame were retained on the walls also (bressu-
mmers and wall posts). The ground sills were jacked up with red
bricks. Whereas in the Tuwdor refashioning, the upper chambers of
the hall were connected by central deors from room to room, a
side corridor was now built, giving privacy to each room. To
facilitate this, a new staircase in the nerth east comer, with a
neat little bullaster, was buailt. This beceme the mein stair,
though the old Tudor newel stairease was left open.

The original pit sawn floorboarxds of the ¢.1700 restylin§
survived in the upper south bay - of haphazZerd lengths 4% - 105F%.
long, in widths of 1 - 1ift.

PARCGETTING

Threec patterns of pargetting are showm, type "B" represent-
ing the common design found at points marked on the house
sketchess It moy be that this simple criss-cross pattemn
covered the whole house between stunde origineally. It might date
from the time of the first structure, for a sample from the front
apex of the crosswing, set on a frame which secmed to be original,
showed no sign of an additional "skim" of daub sufficient to take
a fresh pattem onto an old daub block. The dazub, with its panel,
was 4% inches thick.

The other two pattems found are most likely to be replace-
ments after damage to the older design in the thhfiEth C. CONV=-
grsion. Both the "zig-zag" and "figure of eight" patterns were
found on the interior cast wall of the hall, upstairs, so docor-
ating the inner bedchamber walls.

In all cases noted, riven oak psnels were used, each with
projecting stoys fixed on with irom tacks. These projections were
sprung into the prepared grooves of the studwork, ss was the prac-
tice with wattle frames of an earlier period.

HEARTHS

The central (16th c.) stack has en intact base of red-orange
bricks, 8¢ x 4 x 1é inches, irregulerly bonded and laid with wide
mortar, more then ¢ inch between bricks. The upper stack has been
rebuilt (prosumably 17th/18th c.) with the insertion of two round-
backed hearths, the larger one in the crosswing, the smaller in
the N,hall chamber.

The south stack is of red brick, matching =211 the S, brickwall
of the hall. 1t is presumably a thh/lBth c. restoration, with the
later addition of a hearth oh the upstairs south wall.
18th/20th CENTURY FEATURES

Few changes followed; part of the lower ecast wall was bricked
with yellow stocks in the early migélgth century, and this front
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probably then received its skirting of the popular and new-
fangled weatherboard. The jetty may then have been propped on
its two square pillars, which remained until the 1974 restor-
ation. In the 18th/19th c. also, some further windows of
multi-psne verticel sliding type were let into the position of
Tudor ones. In the crosswing, overhcad joists were covered with
lath znd horschair plaster to mske a flush ceiling.

It may be thet these alterations were carried out by the
Turner family. Samuel Turner was occupier in 1807, =nd his son
Richard held Condovers in 1832. A red brick, cut with the
initinls R.T. (not moulded) was discovercd in a shed on the
premiscs, suggesting = commemoration of some building work. The
date-span of the family fits well with the style of windows and
locally-manufactured brick, though the brick could well be o
surplus from the building of the new "Condovers" next door, after
the mid-contuxry.

Williom Tallmach, who was occupier of the old farmhouse in
1845, is said to have used only part of the house himself. The N.
crosswing was the farmhouse ares, while the hall served as a
dormitory for migrant harvest workers,

Bomb damage to the roof in 1940 may be the explanation of the
steeply pitched cutting of the rafters of the western crosswing
ares
1974-75 RESTORATION
The brick plinth has been entirely replcoced with Southwater red
brick; the major studwork end framing has been left intact, but
much penel-snd-daub removed. Some windows have becn replaced,
but 21l original Tudor window slots ond mediaeval mullions,
together with all mediaeval cvidence, rotained though hidden in
part. Some pargetting has been proseérved in the upper interior
east well.  Facades have been rendercd on mesh end batten over
woterproof felt; the originel height of the weathoerbeard has
been retaoined. To avoid further spread, metal bracing has been
applied to various parts of the structure. 411 ground floors,
of lime and sand until 1974, have beon dug out snd concrete-filled.
Footnotes
1. I am indebted to Col.A.E.Loftus,C.B,E, for these extracts from
his note-books, now deposited with Thurrock Central Eeference

Library. Sﬁparatian of Condovers v. Morant's History of Essex.
2, R.OHM. Essex Vol.lV,1923,

3. Correspondence with C.Hewett. These dates also tally closely
with Morant's details of the forming of Condovers manor.

4. This beam is a re-utilised timber. Most of the Ship Inn is

of mid 17th c. date.

5. Indenture relecsing cottoges, 29th November, 1697. Folder 249,
Centrel Reference Library, Thurrock.
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6. Correspondcnce V.& A. Departuent of Coramieca, 1974.

T« Tharrock Gazette, 15 June.l940.

Thanks arc due to Mr, and Mrs, R.L.Alliker for much time and
kindness during visitas to Condovers. The farmhouse has been
saved ond restored entircly due to their enthusissm.
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